

The use of structured teaching strategies to support students on the autism spectrum to stay ontask in mainstream classrooms

# **Final report**

Dr. Elizabeth Macdonald Professor Deb Keen Dr David Trembath Dr Jill Ashburner Associate Professor Debra Costley Kaaren Haas

April 2018









Australian Government Department of Industry, Innovation and Science Business Cooperative Research Centres Programme

# autismcrc.com.au

The use of structured teaching strategies to support children on the autism spectrum to stay on-task in mainstream classrooms

Final report

#### **Dr Elizabeth Macdonald**

The Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) Griffith University

#### **Professor Deb Keen**

The Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) Autism Centre of Excellence, Griffith University

#### **Dr David Trembath**

The Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) Griffith University, NHMRC ERC Fellow, Senior Lecturer Menzies Health Institute Queensland

#### **Dr Jill Ashburner**

The Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) Autism Queensland

#### Associate Professor Debra Costley

The Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) School of Education, University of Nottingham (formerly Autism Spectrum Australia)

#### Kaaren Haas

The Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) Autism Spectrum Australia

ISBN: 978-0-9953736-3-1

**Citation:** Macdonald, L., Keen, D. Trembath, D., Ashburner, J., Costley, D. and Haas, K. (2018). *The use of structured teaching strategies to support students on the autism spectrum to stay ontask in mainstream classrooms*. Brisbane: Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism.

Copies of this report can be downloaded from the Autism CRC website **autismcrc.com.au**.



#### **Copyright and disclaimer**

The information contained in this report has been published by the Autism CRC to assist public knowledge and discussion to improve the outcomes for people with autism through end-user driven research. To this end, Autism CRC grants permission for the general use of any or all of this information provided due acknowledgement is given to its source. Copyright in this report and all the information it contains vests in Autism CRC. You should seek independent professional, technical or legal (as required) advice before acting on any opinion, advice or information contained in this report. Autism CRC makes no warranties or assurances with respect to this report. Autism CRC and all persons associated with it exclude all liability (including liability for negligence) in relation to any opinion, advice or information contained in this report or for any consequences arising from the use of such opinion, advice or information.



# Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the financial support of the Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC), established and supported under the Australian Government's Cooperative Research Centre Program. The author acknowledges funds provided for research support by the Griffith Institute for Educational Research.

We would also like to thank Stephanie Callaghan, Research Assistant, Autism Queensland for her assistance in the preparation of this report.

This report includes thesis papers which are co-authored with other researchers. The bibliographic details and status for these papers, including all authors, are:

Macdonald, L., Keen, D., Ashburner, J., Costley, D., Haas, K., & Trembath, D. (2017). Piloting autism intervention research with teachers in mainstream classrooms. International Journal of Inclusive Education, 21(12), 1228-1244 doi:10.1080/13603116.2017.1335355 (Copyright assigned to Taylor & Francis Group, included here in accordance with provisions in the publishing agreement).

Macdonald, L., Trembath, D., Ashburner, J., Costley, D., & Keen, D. (in press). The use of visual schedules and work systems to increase the on-task behaviour of students on the autism spectrum in mainstream classrooms. Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs. doi:10.1111/1471-3802.12409

Macdonald, L., Trembath, D., Ashburner, J., Costley, D., Haas, K., & Keen, D. (2017). Examining teachers' responses to an intervention for students on the autism spectrum to facilitate implementation. Manuscript submitted for publication.



# A NOTE ON TERMINOLOGY

The term autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is used only when discussing the diagnostic criteria described in The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM 5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Student participants in this research have been referred to as students on the autism spectrum, or students on the spectrum, throughout. At the time of writing, this is the preferred terminology within the Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC). However, it is acknowledged that the language with which the autism spectrum is described is rapidly evolving.

#### About the Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC)

The Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) is the world's first national, cooperative research effort focused on autism. Taking a whole-of-life approach to autism focusing on diagnosis, education and adult life, Autism CRC researchers are working with end-users to provide evidence-based outcomes which can be translated into practical solutions for governments, service providers, education and health professionals, families and people on the autism spectrum.

#### autismcrc.com.au



# Table of contents

Abstract9				
1. Introduction10				
1.1 Universal Design for Learning11				
1.2 Structured teaching				
1.3 Visual schedules				
1.4 Work systems				
1.5 Research aim				
2. Phase 115				
2.1 Aim				
2.2 Methodology				
2.2.1 Research design15				
2.2.2 Participants15				
2.2.3 Setting15				
2.2.4 Intervention and materials15				
2.2.5 Procedure				
2.2.6 Data collection16				
2.3 Findings17				
3. Phase 2				
3.1 Aim				
3.2 Methodology18				
3.2.1 Research design				



3.2.2	Participants	18				
3.2.3	Setting	19				
3.2.4	Procedures	19				
3.2.5	Intervention	19				
3.2.6	Dependent variables	20				
3.3 Fi	indings	20				
3.3.1	On-task behaviours	21				
3.3.2	Off-task behaviours	21				
3.3.3	Teacher prompting	21				
3.3.4	Words written	21				
4. Phas	4. Phase 323					
4.1 Ai	im	23				
4.2 M	1ethodology	23				
Stud	ly design	23				
4.2.1	Stage 1	23				
Parti	icipants	23				
Mate	erials	23				
4.2.2	Stage 2	24				
Parti	icipants	24				
Proc	edure	24				
4.3 Fi	indings	24				
5. Disc	cussion	24				



7.	References	. 28
6.	Conclusion	. 27
5.3	3 Limitations and future directions	.26
5.2	2 Implementation	. 25
5.1	Outcomes	.24



# Abstract

Students on the autism spectrum who attend mainstream schools may find aspects of independent learning challenging. In particular, these students may have difficulty staying on task and transitioning between tasks. There is a need for teachers to provide effective strategies as part of their everyday practice to assist students on the spectrum within mainstream classroom settings. This project aimed to design and evaluate the effectiveness of an intervention involving two strategies of structured teaching: visual schedules and work systems. Research to date has largely focused on evaluating these strategies within special education or autism-specific contexts. The current project evaluated the use of visual schedules and work systems when implemented as inclusive, whole-class practices, to support students on the spectrum in their mainstream classroom environments. A mixed-methods research design was adopted to gather data across three phases. Phase 1 involved the use of a case-study approach with the aim of trialing the intervention, as well as to test and refine research methods to be used in Phase 2. In Phase 2, a multiple baseline design was used to investigate the impacts of the intervention, when delivered by mainstream teachers in their classrooms, to support the learning and engagement of students on the spectrum. In Phase 3, an online survey and semi-structured interviews were utilised to gather feedback from mainstream teachers about the intervention. Findings from the pilot study highlighted the feasibility of employing visual schedules and work systems in mainstream settings, and enabled refinements of the research methods for use in mainstream classrooms. The results of Phase 2 indicated that the intervention significantly improved observed on-task behaviours for students on the spectrum. Findings from Phase 3 revealed that mainstream teachers who had viewed and trialled in the intervention package had found it helpful and suitable for everyday practice. Overall, this research offers preliminary findings suggesting that visual schedules and work systems can be effectively implemented by mainstream school teachers to support independent, on-task learning for students on the spectrum.



# 1. Introduction

For students on the autism spectrum, differences in social communication, restricted and repetitive patterns of behavior, adherence to routine, restricted interests, and/or sensory differences (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) may pose significant challenges in mainstream schools. Behavioural and cognitive differences may affect ways that students on the spectrum approach school tasks and transitions. Specifically, attending to and completing tasks can be challenging for many students on the spectrum (Ashburner, Ziviani, & Rodger, 2010; Banda & Kubina, 2006). Furthermore, repetitive and restricted behaviours can be barriers to learning (Leekam, Prior, & Uljarevic, 2011), as difficulties with transitions and shifts in thought may affect the ways that students respond to ever-changing tasks, activities and routines in school environments (Hill, 2004).

Additionally, differences in executive functioning capabilities may influence the ways that students on the spectrum approach and stay on-task, transition between activities, and independently follow activities involving sequential steps (Banda & Grimmett, 2008; Hill, 2004; Milley & Machalicek, 2012). The differences in executive functioning of these students may contribute to, and exacerbate anxiety about schoolwork, as well as impact on students' ability to self-regulate. Ultimately, these behavioural and cognitive differences may lead to difficulties engaging with the school curriculum and lower educational outcomes for students on the spectrum (Ashburner, et al., 2010; Laurent & Rubin, 2004; Stoner, Angell, House, & Bock, 2007).

In Australia, 73% of students on the spectrum attend mainstream schools (Autism Awareness, 2014), however many parents and caregivers have observed that current supports available in these settings are often inadequate (Autism Awareness, 2014; Lilley, 2012). An important consideration of teaching students on the spectrum is supporting them to navigate transitions successfully, perhaps by using individual guidance or prompting from teachers and support staff (Milley & Machalicek, 2012). However, these strategies risk students becoming overly reliant on prompting to transition from one activity to another (Cihak, 2011; Dettmer, Simpson, Myles, & Ganz, 2000; Humphrey, 2008), to the detriment of the development of their own independence in navigating transitions.

Incorporating supports into the way that classroom tasks are structured and visually presented may reduce teacher prompting and promote students' own self-monitoring and self-regulation of task engagement. In order to be practical for teachers, supports for students on the spectrum need to be easily integrated into regular classroom practice (Dingfelder & Mandell, 2011), and foster an inclusive educational environment.



# **1.1 Universal Design for Learning**

Universal Design for Learning (UDL) is a key framework for inclusive educational practice. The aim of UDL is to promote equal access to learning for all students. It is framed by the principles of representation, expression or action and engagement (CAST, 2011). If teachers apply principles of UDL to their whole-class teaching, they may be able to spend less time adjusting materials and delivery for individual students (Jiminez et al., 2007) and reduce students' reliance on teaching staff (Giangreco, 2013). For students on the spectrum, UDL adjustments may enable them to engage in learning with their peers with minimal adjustments. UDL principles therefore allow students on the spectrum to remain with their peers and reduce the likelihood of situations in which they feel isolated, singled out, or stigmatised by having special supports for learning. The UDL framework addresses a need to provide strategies suitable for whole-class settings where students on the spectrum can engage in learning to the best of their ability.

# **1.2 Structured teaching**

Structured teaching refers to a group of strategies that are used to create an environment where students on the spectrum can operate with increasing independence (Bennett, Reichow, & Wolery, 2011; Hume, Loftin, & Lantz, 2009). Structured teaching was originally developed in North Carolina during the early 1970s, as a core component of the Treatment and Education of Autistic and Related Communication Handicapped Children (TEACCH) programme (Mesibov & Shea, 2010). Since this time, this practice model has frequently been applied in special education (Howley, 2015) and autism-specific education settings (Humphrey & Parkinson, 2006; Peerenboom, 2003). The structured teaching framework is suitable to use with individuals of various ages and levels of functioning (Mesibov & Shea, 2011). Mesibov, Howley & Naftel (2016) and Hume (2015) have highlighted four key elements of structured teaching:

- a) physical structural arrangements of the environment
- b) visual schedules
- c) work systems
- d) visual structure.

These components and their related strategies for practice are detailed in Table 1.



#### Table 1: Elements of structured teaching

Structured teaching element	Strategies
<b>Physical structure of environment</b> Supports sensory and executive functioning differences by adding meaning and context (Mesibov et al., 2016).	<ul> <li>Clearly defined areas for activities</li> <li>Clear labelling and positioning of materials</li> <li>Minimising auditory and visual distractions</li> <li>Seating arrangements that suit the individual needs of students on the spectrum (e.g., providing physical space around desks, seating students on the spectrum at the back or near the teacher, etc)</li> <li>Provision of a sanctuary space</li> <li>Use of routines</li> </ul>
<b>Visual schedules</b> Provide visual cues to sequence predictable events, give notice of anticipated changes and encourage independent transitions.	<ul> <li>Weekly schedules</li> <li>Individualised timetables</li> <li>Pictorial schedules</li> <li>Photographic schedules</li> <li>Temporal order visual representations (e.g., first-then or whatnext?)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Work systems and task organisation</li> <li>Structures tasks systematically such that visual and physical cues answer the following: <ol> <li>What is the task or activity to do?</li> <li>How much work is there to do and how much time will it take?</li> <li>How do I know that progress is being made and when work is finished?</li> <li>What must I do next?</li> <li>(Mesibov et al., 2004)</li> </ol> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Individual work systems at desks with numbered tasks on the left and finished work to be placed on the right</li> <li>Work systems in folders with left to right organisation (unless right to left is more culturally appropriate) and itemised tasks</li> <li>Tasks broken down and organised visually so that they are easy to follow</li> </ul>
Visual structure Supports understanding of the environment and activities by presenting information with visual clarity.	<ul> <li>Using text or images to convey rules or instructions</li> <li>Organising materials to make their function clear</li> <li>The use of white space to make parts of instructions clear</li> <li>Colour coding</li> </ul>

Much of the research dedicated to studying the efficacy of visual schedules or work systems indicates that these strategies may be very successful or partially successful in changing target behaviours, including decreasing maladaptive behaviours and increasing the productivity and independence of children on the spectrum. The results of previous research show that students who use work systems or visual schedules engage in more on-task behaviour (Bryan & Gast, 2000; Hall, 1995; Hume & Odom, 2007; MacDuff et al., 1993). The use of visual schedules has also been shown to enhance the capacity of students on the spectrum to independently transition between tasks (Cihak, 2011; Dettmer et al., 2000; Fage et al., 2016; Massey & Wheeler, 2000; Mechling & Savidge, 2011; Pierce et al., 2013; Schmit et al., 2000).

As shown in Table 1, visual schedules and work systems are two of the key strategies of structured teaching used to support students on the spectrum to focus on designated tasks and manage transitions. These strategies may be adopted by teachers to support a broad range of students in



mainstream classrooms, including other students with complex learning needs (Bryan & Gast, 2000; Hume & Reynolds, 2010; Hume, Sreckovic, Snyder, & Carnahan, 2014). Nevertheless, further research is needed to assess whether these strategies are viable and effective in the context of mainstream school settings.

## **1.3 Visual schedules**

Visual schedules are employed to provide predictability within the classroom environment. Specifically, visual schedules inform students about upcoming events in the day and utilize sequential pictures, symbols and/or written language to achieve this. According to the National Autism Center (2015), schedules are among its 14 "established interventions" suggesting that there is compelling evidence of their effectiveness in developing students' planning abilities and fostering independence. A review of evidence-based practices for people diagnosed with ASD by Wong et al. (2015) also concludes that schedules are evidence-based. Knight, Sartini, and Spriggs (2014) support the effectiveness of visual schedules in improving on-task behaviour and facilitating smooth transitions, although Waters, Lerman, and Hovanetz (2009) report that when visual schedules are used to transition from a preferred activity (e.g. computer games) to a non-preferred activity (e.g. academic work), they are ineffective without the use of reinforcers.

Overall, these findings suggest that using visual schedules in schools are an effective strategy for supporting students on the spectrum. A noteworthy limitation of the present research, however, is that this intervention has not been delivered by a mainstream classroom teacher or as an established component of classroom practice.

### 1.4 Work systems

Work systems provide a means of structuring tasks, or elements of a task, which students can use to understand:

- a) what they are expected to do
- b) how much work is required
- c) how much progress they are making or when work is finished
- d) what task to focus on next (Hume & Reynolds, 2010; Mesibov, Howley, & Naftel, 2016).

Work systems therefore share some common elements with visual schedules (i.e. sequencing tasks or task elements). Both Wong et al. (2015) and the National Autism Center (2015) maintain that current evidence for the effectiveness of work systems is limited by the relatively small number of studies that have addressed this strategy.



Of the studies that have evaluated the usefulness of work systems specifically with school-aged children on the spectrum (Hume & Odom, 2007; Hume, Plavnick, & Odom, 2012; Mavropoulou, Papadopoulou, & Kakana, 2011; O'Hara & Hall, 2014), only findings from Mavropoulou et al. (2011) showed that using work systems led to improvements in on-task behaviour, engagement, task accuracy, self-regulation of behaviours and independent working habits. However, significant improvements in on-task behaviour were recorded for only one of two participants (Mavropoulou et al., 2011).

Other research by Hume and Odom (2007) found that work systems appeared to increase on-task behaviour and reduce prompting for three students. Research by Hume et al. (2012) also suggested that work systems for students on the spectrum can lead to reduced teacher prompting and improved task accuracy. Notably, the gains made through the use of work systems in special education settings were generalised to mainstream classroom settings.

Lastly, the findings by O'Hara and Hall (2014) provide some evidence of increased engagement during break time play activities among students on the spectrum after the introduction of work systems. Taken as a whole, this preliminary research suggests that work systems may have potential benefits in supporting students on the spectrum, and that work systems seem suitable for use across different settings. Nevertheless, research on the use of work systems within mainstream school settings has been very limited (Hume et al., 2012; O'Hara & Hall, 2014), with no data available on the effectiveness of the intervention when delivered by mainstream classroom teachers.

Evidently, further research is required to clarify whether the benefits of work systems and visual schedules apparent in special education and clinical settings, can be extended to inclusive, mainstream school environments.

### 1.5 Research aim

The aim of this research was to develop and evaluate the effectiveness of an intervention using visual schedules and work systems in mainstream classrooms. Given that there is limited research on the utility of these strategies in mainstream classrooms, a three-phased approach was employed to systematically develop and assess the intervention in partnership with teachers.



# 2. Phase 1

# 2.1 Aim

The aim of Phase 1 was to refine a structured teaching intervention package for use in mainstream classrooms, and to pilot a method for evaluating its effectiveness.

# 2.2 Methodology

## 2.2.1 Research design

A case study method was used in one mainstream classroom. Case study designs aim to illuminate the detail of a specific situation and highlight the complexity of the environment (Yin, 2014), which in this case, was the interaction between research practice and the complex context of the mainstream classroom setting.

# 2.2.2 Participants

The intervention was planned by a teacher for an identified nine-year old male student. He was diagnosed with Asperger Disorder at six years of age. At the time of the study, this student was in Year 3 in a Year 3-4 composite class. The Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test, second edition (KBIT-2; Kaufman & Kaufman, 2004) indicated that the student had average academic ability. Initial classroom observations indicated that the student often engaged in off-task behavior (e.g., did not start work immediately, played with objects, was often not engaged with learning).

# 2.2.3 Setting

The student's school was a small regional public primary school of 114 students. The class had 20 students, including four students on the spectrum. The student's teacher accommodated for varying abilities by using scaffolded lessons, different activities for students and year levels, as well as one-to-one and small group activities. Prior to the case study, a daily visual schedule was displayed although it was not regularly used or updated.

### 2.2.4 Intervention and materials

The student's teacher was required to implement an intervention to assist the identified student (and potentially other students) to stay on task and transition independently between tasks. The teacher was given a workbook written by Haas (2015) that was specifically designed to instruct mainstream classroom teachers on how to create and implement a visual schedule in the form of a



daily timetable, as well as a work system for a literacy task. The workbook also included the benefits of using a visual structure, links to online resources and examples of visually organised tasks. The researcher showed additional examples of work systems to the teacher, including pictures of a carrel desk with numbered drawers and symbols, a folder with 'to do' and 'finished' pockets and a checklist. The teacher used his own checklist format, which conformed to the definition of a work system by visually conveying information about what task to do, how much work was expected, how to know it was finished, and what to do next (Howley, 2015; Hume & Odom, 2007; Mesibov, Shea, & Schopler, 2004).

#### 2.2.5 Procedure

A handwriting task was used to assess the student's independence while working. For this task, the whole class was required to write several lines of alphabet letters. After working on a longer written composition, there was then a transition to the computers where students typed out their work.

In order to identify appropriate dependent variables that could be used to assess the student's productivity and attention to task before and after the introduction of the intervention, the first researcher consulted the teacher about the student's behaviour. Two types of the identified student's behaviours were observed, coded, and measured. These were behaviours associated with being on-task or getting work done, and problem behaviours associated with being off-task. Other dependent variables measured by observation included teacher prompting, response latency (time taken before starting work) and amount of work completed.

The research team took observations from the back of the classroom or while circulating among the whole class. At the end of the intervention, student and teacher views of the strategies were measured using surveys designed for the study. The surveys consisted of both Likert and openended questions, which explored teacher and student perceptions of the value and practicality of using these strategies in mainstream classrooms. Specifically the surveys included questions in regard to the ease of implementation and helpfulness of using structured teaching approaches in the classroom, student motivation to use these strategies, and likelihood of recommending these strategies.

#### 2.2.6 Data collection

When taking observations, the researchers took care to ensure that neither the student participant, nor his classmates, were aware of a particular student being the subject of attention. Observations were usually taken from the back of the classroom or while circulating among the whole class. Inter-rater reliability was trialed with a trained secondary observer. There was agreement for on-



task behaviours at 90.39%, and off-task behaviours at 90.15%. For teacher prompting, inter-rater reliability was at 87.18%.

### 2.3 Findings

This case study informed the refinement of the intervention package, which included providing the teacher with supplementary information on visual schedules and work systems, and a checklist to help with implementation of the strategies. Task selection in consultation with the teacher was found to be a feasible way to work within a mainstream classroom setting, and to capture data in an ecologically valid way. The process used to identify behaviours that would be appropriate dependent variables involved both direct input from the teacher and consultation to confirm the researcher's observations.

On the social validity measure, the student indicated that the timetable was of some help, and the work system was very helpful. The teacher reported that the timetables were very useful and easy to implement in the classroom, and that the work systems were very helpful in keeping the student on-task and helpful for other students. However, the teacher suggested that he would not recommend work systems as a whole-of-class intervention, due to the time required to develop the task checklists for students with diverse abilities.



# 3. Phase 2

# 3.1 Aim

The aim of this phase of the research was to investigate the effect of visual schedules and work systems on the on-task behaviours, productivity and independence of students on the spectrum, when these strategies were implemented by a mainstream teacher for the whole class.

# 3.2 Methodology

### 3.2.1 Research design

To address the aims of Phase 2, a multiple-baseline, single-case experimental design across participants was used.

### 3.2.2 Participants

All four participants were students in primary school who met the following eligibility criteria: (a) verified as having a diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) by the Queensland Department of Education and Training; (b) attending mainstream classes in upper primary years; (c) having the academic ability to complete set work in their classroom; and (d) being perceived by their teachers as having difficulty staying on task and/or transitioning between tasks. Three of the students were in their fifth year of schooling and one student was in their third year. Information about diagnoses was provided by the parents. The Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS-2) also provided a quantitative measure of ASD traits (Constantino & Gruber, 2007). All students had total t-scores over 60, indicating clinically significant differences in reciprocal social behavior (Constantino & Gruber, 2012). Students' academic ability was assessed using the Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test, Second edition (KBIT-2; Kaufman & Kaufman, 2004). These scores and the ages of participants are shown over in Table 2.



#### Table 2: Student characteristics

Name <sup>1</sup>	Age	SRS-2 T score	KBIT-2
James	10 years, 7 months	61	Above average
Aaron	10 years, 4 months	75	Above average
Edward	11 years	69	Average
Sam	8 years, 11 months	>90	Average

<sup>1</sup> All names are pseudonyms.

#### 3.2.3 Setting

The study took place in two mainstream primary schools and all classes had 20 to 25 students. For James, Aaron, and Sam, the intervention was implemented by their classroom teacher during whole-class lessons. For Edward, visual schedules were implemented by the classroom teacher, while the work systems component of the intervention was delivered during whole-class Languages other than English (LOTE) lessons by the LOTE teacher.

#### 3.2.4 Procedures

In the pre-baseline stage, teachers were consulted about when off-task behaviours were likely to occur. Teachers were given a workbook closely modelled on work by Haas (2015) with guidance about how to design and carry out visual schedules and work systems. In the baseline stage, the first author observed each student during the selected task, or LOTE lesson, a minimum of five times over a 2-3 week period to establish baseline rates of target behaviours. Student behaviours and teacher prompting were measured from the start of the task. Ten-second partial interval coding was used and both on-task and off-task behaviours were recorded if they were observed during this interval. Observations began when the teacher gave instructions to commence work until the task was completed. Reliability of coding was measured with a second observer who had been trained in the coding procedure during the Phase 1 study.

#### 3.2.5 Intervention

The intervention phase began by providing the teacher with the intervention workbook (Haas, 2015) and meeting in person with the teacher to discuss the contents of the workbook. The intervention consisted of individual visual schedules, structuring tasks with lists or instructions, and giving visual cues about work (e.g., visual timers, pages marked with an end point) and what to do next (e.g., concrete materials for the next task, next item on the schedule).



#### 3.2.6 Dependent variables

On-task behaviour was operationalised as writing, or typing where the writing implement was held touching the paper or where the student pressed a key on a keyboard. Off-task behaviours differed between students. Off-task behaviours for James included being out of his chair, walking around the room, talking and working on other activities. For Aaron, off-task behaviours included reading under his desk, refusal to work and talking. Edward's off-task behaviour was work refusal. Teacher prompting was operationalised as any form of instruction or cue given by the teacher, teacher aide or adult volunteer to direct the student's attention to the task, work system or schedule. Prompting consisted of:

- a) verbal directions
- b) using the student's name
- c) gesturing/pointing
- d) touching the student
- e) touching/tapping the student's chair or desk
- f) using a visual cue
- g) using proximity
- h) hand over hand guidance.

The total number of words written or typed were recorded, when possible, for students engaged in writing tasks.

Social validity of the intervention was measured using a survey where teachers and students provided feedback about the ease and helpfulness of visual schedules and work systems.

### 3.3 Findings

For all students, the proportion of intervals where both observers agreed was over 87% on all measures. Fidelity was measured using an implementation checklist. The number of baseline and intervention phase sessions varied between students. A maintenance probe was conducted only in James' classroom.



### 3.3.1 On-task behaviours

Figure 1 shows that a change in on-task behavior between baseline and intervention was apparent for all participants. James' on-task behaviours increased from 20% intervals (range: 5% - 36%) during baseline to 53% (range: 29% - 79%) during the intervention. This increase was found to be a large, significant effect (Tau-U = .6458, p = .045). During the maintenance probe session, the percentage of intervals during which James was on-task fell to 8%.

Aaron's on-task behaviours increased significantly with a large effect size (Tau-U = .8333, p = .0225) from a mean of 40% of intervals during baseline (range: 19% - 80%) to a mean of 60% (range: 47% - 68%) during intervention.

Edward showed the greatest change in on-task behaviours, with a statistically significant improvement and a large effect size (Tau-U = 1.25, p = .004). Average intervals at baseline increased from a mean of 9% (range: 0% - 26%) to 65% (range: 57% - 78%).

Sam's on-task behaviours increased from an average of 61% during baseline (range: 37%-90%) to 86% (range: 85% to 90%). This change constituted a moderate effect size but did not reach statistical significance (Tau-U = .35, p = .3913).

#### 3.3.2 Off-task behaviours

The change measured between baseline and intervention phases for off-task behaviours was not statistically significant for any participants.

### 3.3.3 Teacher prompting

No significant difference was found for teacher prompting between baseline and intervention phases.

### 3.3.4 Words written

James and Aaron showed significant increases in productivity measured by the number of words written during observations. James wrote a mean of 36 words at baseline (range: 0-68), which increased significantly (Tau-U =.7857, p = .0184) to 77 after the intervention (range: 41-148). Aaron's productivity rose from an average of 37 words in baseline sessions (range: 10 - 72) to 105 (range: 78-121) after the intervention (Tau-U = 1.5, p = .0015). Sam's change in words written between phases was not statistically significant, and no data was collected for Edward because the class was not consistently engaged in writing tasks during observation sessions.





Figure 1. Percentage of intervals in which students were observed engaging in on-task behaviours.



# 4. Phase 3

## 4.1 Aim

The aim of this phase of the study was to explore the views of mainstream primary school teachers on the use of visual schedules and work systems as described in a resource developed from the workbook used in Phases 1 and 2 - *Finished! The On-task Toolkit* (Macdonald & Haas, 2016) - and to obtain their feedback on its utility in assisting teachers to implement these strategies in their classrooms.

# 4.2 Methodology

#### Study design

A mixed-methods approach was used across two stages. In stage 1, a two-part survey was used to assess teachers' responses to the intervention package, *Finished! The On-task Toolkit* (Macdonald & Haas, 2017) and the strategies it outlines. In stage 2, a qualitative case-study approach was used to obtain further feedback about the use of the strategies outlined in the toolkit, and to capture the complexity and richness of the classroom experience implementing it (Yin, 2014).

### 4.2.1 Stage 1

#### **Participants**

Forty-one mainstream primary teachers participated in an online survey giving feedback on the intervention package. The teachers' years of experience ranged between 1 and 35 years. All 41 completed Part 1 of the survey and 22 completed Part 2.

#### **Materials**

*Finished! The On-task Toolkit* (Macdonald & Haas, 2017) included four sections on structured teaching strategies including:

- a) background information
- b) use of structured teaching in mainstream classrooms
- c) information about visual schedules
- d) information about work systems.

Additional resources in the toolkit included links to online resources, templates, fact sheets and checklists.



#### 4.2.2 Stage 2

#### **Participants**

Four mainstream teachers who had participated in the online survey also participated in semistructured interviews about their experiences of using the *Finished! The On-task Toolkit* (Macdonald & Haas, 2017) in their classrooms.

#### Procedure

Semi-structured interviews were used to gather information about classes that the participants had taught, strategies they were currently using, how they implemented strategies described in the toolkit, how students responded, and what they thought about using the strategies. General feedback and suggested areas for improvement on the toolkit were also gathered.

### 4.3 Findings

The online survey required teachers to rate their levels of knowledge and confidence in using visual schedules and work systems, before and after reading the toolkit. Results revealed significant increases for teachers' confidence in using visual schedules (Z = -2.543, p = .001) and in using work systems (Z = -2.708, p = .007). No significant improvement was found in teachers' knowledge of using visual schedules and work systems. The teacher's responses to the toolkit were overwhelmingly positive, in that they found it easy to follow and useful.

All four teachers who trialed the toolkit's strategies had some level of success and all were keen to continue using the strategies in their future classes. Qualitative feedback indicated that these teachers were able to independently deliver the intervention as part of their everyday practice. Both visual schedules and work systems were considered by teachers to be useful for all students.

# 5. Discussion

### 5.1 Outcomes

The overarching objective of this research was to improve mainstream school learning experiences for students on the spectrum, who may experience difficulties in engaging with on-task activities



and coping with transitions. A large number of students on the spectrum attend mainstream classrooms without receiving specialist support (Autism Awareness, 2014). Although interventions exist which may be helpful (National Autism Center, 2015; Wong et al., 2015), there has been a dearth of evidence on their effectiveness when delivered by teachers in mainstream classrooms.

The aim of this project was to develop, implement and evaluate an intervention involving the use of visual schedules and work systems, which could be used in mainstream schools as part of everyday teaching practice. The findings from the pilot study helped researchers clarify appropriate data-collection procedures, and provided useful information on the culture of mainstream classrooms, and the need for data-collection procedures that accommodate the disruptions that occur with great frequency in these classrooms. In this way, researchers refined the intervention package and gathered ecologically valid observations.

Phase 2 results indicated that visual schedules and work systems effectively supported four students on the spectrum to stay on-task during activities within their mainstream classrooms. These findings are consistent with previously reported findings that the use of visual schedules and work systems increase on-task behaviours (Bennett et al., 2011; Hume & Odom, 2007; Hume et al., 2012; Mavropoulou et al., 2011; O'Hara & Hall, 2014). The present study adds to previous findings by offering new insights on the effectiveness of the intervention in mainstream schools.

Phase 3 data revealed that teachers who had accessed the toolkit found it to be helpful and suitable to use in their classrooms. While the increase measured in teachers' knowledge of the strategies was not significant, this may have reflected the already high levels of knowledge among participants. Teachers' level of confidence in using visual schedules and work systems improved significantly and they reported that they would continue to use the toolkit's strategies and share their knowledge with their colleagues.

### 5.2 Implementation

While supporting students who are having difficulty staying on task is a compelling reason to use visual schedules and work systems, the effectiveness of these strategies, even in an authentic context, is not enough to ensure they will work as intended in the mainstream classroom on every occasion. The way in which these strategies are conveyed to teachers will determine a) whether they are implemented, and b) the extent of their effectiveness. While the underlying principles of the intervention remain the same, teachers who participated in the last phase of the study highlighted variety of ways that visual schedules and work systems can be implemented (e.g., using pictures or symbols or the use of technology). By incorporating adaptability in the design of



the intervention, fidelity to the essential components of structured teaching may increase (Dearing, 2009) and mainstream school teachers are more likely to adopt the intervention as part of their everyday practice.

### 5.3 Limitations and future directions

The most salient of limitations of this research pertained to the challenges of conducting research in mainstream classroom environments, and the consequent lack of environmental control. While it is important to gather information reflective of environmental validity, data must also be reliable. In the context of this study, the complexity of classroom environmental factors may have impacted the delivery and evaluation of visual schedules and work systems.

A second shortcoming of the present study was the small numbers of participants across the three phases, which is a common limitation of single-subject research designs (Zhan & Ottenbacher, 2001). It would have been preferable to include more participants, especially with the online survey and interviews in Phase 3. The teachers who did participate in this phase of research were self-nominated and motivated to further their knowledge and experience of supporting students on the spectrum. Although their feedback on the toolkit was insightful, questions remain about whether teachers with a limited understanding of autism would share their perceptions that the tool kit was easy to understand, and the strategies were feasible and valuable.

The present study investigated the effectiveness of visual schedules and work systems in supporting students on the spectrum within their mainstream school classrooms. These strategies may have other benefits which have not yet been explored. For instance, further investigation of structured teaching strategies could focus on curriculum and learning outcomes for students on the spectrum (Howley, 2015). Furthermore, future studies could explore the potential of structured teaching strategies in fostering functional skills, such as emotional regulation and social communication skills. Additionally, the potential benefits of structured teaching strategies for typically developing students and students with other special needs warrant further exploration.

The teachers who trialed the toolkit recommended other ways of enhancing teachers' understanding of structured teaching strategies, including video modelling and face-to-face professional development. A further Autism CRC project on the utilisation of these research outcomes is therefore focusing on the development of an eLearning package that includes video modelling, resources for face-to-face professional development, and online templates.



# 6. Conclusion

This research addressed the need for effective educational methods that can be used in mainstream school settings to support students on the spectrum. While many previous studies indicated that visual schedules and work systems can help students on the spectrum to stay on-task and independently transition between set tasks (Bennett et al., 2011; Hume & Odom, 2007; Hume et al., 2012; Knight et al., 2014; Mavropoulou et al., 2011; O'Hara & Hall, 2014), the application of these approaches to mainstream contexts was largely unexplored. This project aimed to bridge this research-to-practice gap by exploring the effectiveness of these strategies in mainstream classroom settings.

The Universal Design for Learning (UDL) approach was used to develop an inclusive way of providing support to students on the spectrum, thereby enhancing their access to quality education within an inclusive learning environment (UN General Assembly, 2007). By promoting a whole-of-class approach, this project aimed to make classrooms more autism-friendly, and to reduce the need for individualised approaches that may make students on the spectrum feel isolated or stigmatised.

The current project has contributed to the field of research focusing on the effective delivery of structured teaching strategies in ecologically valid settings. The refined intervention package may be viewed as an eclectic approach (Kasari & Smith, 2013) which realistically aims to support students on the spectrum to learn in inclusive education classrooms. The current methodological design may assist researchers of future studies to investigate other autism interventions in mainstream schools.



# 7. References

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.

Ashburner, J., Ziviani, J., & Rodger, S. (2010). Surviving in the mainstream: Capacity of children with autism spectrum disorders to perform academically and regulate their emotions and behavior at school. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 4*(1), 18-27. doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2009.07.002

Autism Awareness. (2014). #autism2014: A national survey of autism parents and carers. Summary report. Retrieved from http://www.autismawareness.com.au/wpcontent/uploads/2014/08/Autism2014-Survery-Summary-Report-for-AAA.pdf.

Banda, D. R., & Grimmett, E. (2008). Enhancing social and transition behaviors of persons with autism through activity schedules: A review. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, *43*(3), 324-333.

Banda, D. R., & Kubina, R. M., Jr. (2006). The effects of a high-probability request sequencing technique in enhancing transition behaviors. *Education and Treatment of Children, 29*(3), 507-511, 513-516.

Bennett, K., Reichow, B., & Wolery, M. (2011). Effects of structured teaching on the behavior of young children with disabilities. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, *26*(3), 143-152. doi:10.1177/1088357611405040

Bryan, L. C., & Gast, D. L. (2000). Teaching on-task and on-schedule behaviors to high-functioning children with autism via picture activity schedules. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *30*(6), 553-567. doi:10.1023/A:1005687310346

CAST. (2011). Universal Design for Learning Guidelines version 2.0. Wakefield, MA: Author.

Cihak, D. F. (2011). Comparing pictorial and video modeling activity schedules during transitions for students with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 5*(1), 433-441. doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2010.06.006

Constantino, J. N., & Gruber, C. P. (2007). *Social responsiveness scale (SRS).* Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services.

Dettmer, S., Simpson, R. L., Myles, B. S., & Ganz, J. B. (2000). The use of visual supports to facilitate transitions of students with autism. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, *15*(3), 163-169. doi:10.1177/108835760001500307

Dingfelder, H. E., & Mandell, D. S. (2011). Bridging the research-to-practice gap in autism intervention: An application of diffusion of innovation theory. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *41*(5), 597-609. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1081-0

Emam, M. M., & Farrell, P. (2009). Tensions experienced by teachers and their views of support for pupils with autism spectrum disorders in mainstream schools. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *24*(4), 407-422. doi:10.1080/08856250903223070

Fage, C., Pommereau, L., Consel, C., Balland, E., & Sauzéon, H. (2016). Tablet-based activity schedule in mainstream environment for children with autism and children with ID. *ACM Transactions on Accessible Computing*, *8*(3), 1-26. doi:10.1145/2854156



Giangreco, M. F. (2013). Teacher assistant supports in inclusive schools: Research, practices and alternatives. *Australasian Journal of Special Education*, *37*(2), 93-106. doi:10.1017/jse.2013.1

Hall, L. J. (1995). Promoting independence in integrated classrooms by teaching aides to use activity schedules and decreased prompts. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, 30*(3), 208-217.

Haas, K. (2015). *Helping students in mainstream primary classrooms stay on-task and transition between tasks: Visual schedules and work systems. [A workbook for teachers].* Frenchs Forest, NSW: Autism Spectrum Australia (Aspect).

Hill, E. L. (2004). Executive dysfunction in autism. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 8*(1), 26-32. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2003.11.003

Howley, M. (2015). Outcomes of structured teaching for children on the autism spectrum: Does the research evidence neglect the bigger picture? *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *15*(2), 106-119. doi:10.1111/1471-3802.12040

Hume, K. (2015). *Structured teaching strategies: A series.* Retrieved from http://www.iidc.indiana.edu/?pageId=3520

Hume, K., Loftin, R., & Lantz, J. (2009). Increasing independence in autism spectrum disorders: A review of three focused interventions. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 39*(9), 1329-1338. doi:10.1007/s10803-009-0751-2

Hume, K., Plavnick, J., & Odom, S. L. (2012). Promoting task accuracy and independence in students with autism across educational setting through the use of individual work systems. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 42*(10), 2084-2099. doi:10.1007/s10803-012-1457-4

Hume, K., & Odom, S. (2007). Effects of an individual work system on the independent functioning of students with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 37*(6), 1166-1180. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0260-5

Hume, K., & Reynolds, B. (2010). Implementing work systems across the school day: Increasing engagement in students with autism spectrum disorders. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth, 54*(4), 228-237. doi:10.1080/10459881003744701

Hume, K., Sreckovic, M., Snyder, K., & Carnahan, C. R. (2014). Smooth transitions: Helping students with autism spectrum disorder navigate the school day. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *47*(1), 35-45. doi:10.1177/1098300709332346

Humphrey, N. (2008). Including pupils with autistic spectrum disorders in mainstream schools. *Support for Learning*, *23*(1), 41-47.

Humphrey, N., & Parkinson, G. (2006). Research on interventions for children and young people on the autistic spectrum: A critical perspective. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *6*(2), 76-86. doi:10.1111/J.1471-3802.2006.00062.x

Jimenez, T. C., Graf, V. L., & Rose, E. (2007). Gaining access to general education: The promise of universal design for learning. *Issues in Teacher Education, 16*(2), 41-54.

Kasari, C., & Smith, T. (2013). Interventions in schools for children with autism spectrum disorder: Methods and recommendations. *Autism*, *17*(3), 254-267. doi:10.1177/1362361312470496



Kaufman, A. S., & Kaufman, N. L. (2004). *Kaufman brief intelligence test – Second edition (KBIT-2)*. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service.

Knight, V., Sartini, E., & Spriggs, A. D. (2014). Evaluating visual activity schedules as evidencebased practice for individuals with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *45*(1), 157-178. doi:10.1007/s10803-014-2201

Laurent, A. C., & Rubin, E. (2004). Challenges in emotional regulation in Asperger syndrome and high-functioning autism. *Topics in Language Disorders, 24*(4), 286-297.

Leekam, S. R., Prior, M. R., & Uljarevic, M. (2011). Restricted and repetitive behaviors in autism spectrum disorders: A review of research in the last decade. *Psychological Bulletin, 137*(4), 562-593. doi:10.1037/a0023341

Lilley, R. (2012). It's an absolute nightmare: Maternal experiences of enrolling children diagnosed with autism in primary school in Sydney, Australia. *Disability & Society, 28*(4), 514-526. doi:10.1080/09687599.2012.717882

Macdonald, L., & Haas, K. (2016). *Finished! The on-task toolkit: A teacher's guide to using visual schedules and work systems in mainstream classrooms* (Intervention package). Brisbane: Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC).

MacDuff, G. S., Krantz, P. J., & McClannahan, L. E. (1993). Teaching children with autism to use photographic activity schedules: Maintenance and generalization of complex response chains. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 26*(1), 89-97.

Massey, N. G., & Wheeler, J. J. (2000). Acquisition and generalization of activity schedules and their effects on task engagement in a young child with autism in an inclusive pre-school classroom. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, 35*(3), 326-335.

Mavropoulou, S., Papadopoulou, E., & Kakana, D. (2011). Effects of task organization on the independent play of students with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *41*(7), 913-925. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1116-6

Mechling, L. C., & Savidge, E. J. (2011). Using a personal digital assistant to increase completion of novel tasks and independent transitioning by students with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 41*(6), 687-704. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1088-6

Mesibov, G. B., Howley, M., & Naftel, S. (2016). Accessing the curriculum for learners with autism spectrum disorders: Using the TEACCH programme to help inclusion (2nd ed.). Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.

Mesibov, G. B., & Shea, V. (2011). Teacch. In J. S. Kreutzer, J. DeLuca, & B. Caplan (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology* (pp. 2472-2477). New York, NY: Springer

Mesibov, G. B., Shea, V., & Schopler, E. (2004). *The TEACCH approach to autism spectrum disorders*. New York: Springer.

Mesibov, G. B., & Shea, V. (2010). The TEACCH program in the era of evidence-based practice. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 40*(5), 570-579. doi:10.1007/s10803-009-0901-6

Milley, A. M., & Machalicek, W. P. (2012). Decreasing students' reliance on adults: A strategic guide for teachers of students with autism spectrum disorders. *Intervention in School and Clinic, 48*(2), 67-75. doi:10.1177/1053451212449739



National Autism Center. (2015). *Findings and conclusions: National standards project, phase 2.* Randolph, Massachusetts:.

O'Hara, M., & Hall, L. J. (2014). Increasing engagement of students with autism at recess through structured work systems. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities, 49*(4), 568-575.

Peerenboom, T. D. (2003). A literature review of the Treatment and Education for Autistic and related Communication Handicapped Children (TEACCH) program (A research paper submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for Master of Science, University of Wisconsin-Stout).

Pierce, J. M., Spriggs, A. D., Gast, D. L., & Luscre, D. (2013). Effects of visual activity schedules on independent classroom transitions for students with Autism. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education, 60*(3), 253-269. doi:10.1080/1034912X.2013.812191

Schmit, J., Alper, S., Raschke, D., & Ryndak, D. (2000). Effects of using a photographic cueing package during routine school transitions with a child who has autism. *Mental Retardation, 38*(2), 131-137.

Soto-Chodiman, R., Pooley, J. A., Cohen, L., & Taylor, M. F. (2012). Students with ASD in mainstream primary education settings: Teachers' experiences in Western Australian classrooms. *The Australasian Journal of Special Education*, *36*(2), 97-111. doi:10.1017/jse.2012.10

Stoner, J. B., Angell, M. E., House, J. J., & Bock, S. J. (2007). Transitions: Perspectives from parents of young children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, *19*(1), 23-39.

UN General Assembly. (2007). *Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: Resolution adopted by the General Assembly*, 24 January 2007. Retrieved from http://daccessddsny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N06/500/79/PDF/N0650079.pdf?OpenElement

Waters, M. B., Lerman, D. C., & Hovanetz, A. N. (2009). Separate and combined effects of visual schedules and extinction plus differential reinforcement on problem behavior occasioned by transitions. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 42*(2), 309-313. doi:10.1901/jaba.2009.42-309

Wong, C., Odom, S. L., Hume, K. A., Cox, A. W., Fettig, A., Kucharczyk, S., ... Schultz, T. R. (2015). *Evidence-based practices for children, youth, and young adults with autism spectrum disorder*. Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina, Frank Porter Graham Child Development Institute, Autism Evidence-Based Practice Review Group.

Yin, R. K. (2014). Case Study Research: Design and Methods. 5th ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Zhan, S., & Ottenbacher, K. J. (2001). Single subject research designs for disability research. *Disability & Rehabilitation, 23*(1), 1-8.

